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I. INTRODUCTION

After a four-year investigation involving 150 subpoenas, 75 witness interviews, and 33 depositions, the Investigative
Subcommittee and Representative Shuster have agreed to put this controversy to rest with a negotiated settlement
fundamentally involving an "appearance of impropriety." Sparing all concerned the destructive ordeal of lengthy
hearings to debate allegations involving his conduct back to 1993, Representative Shuster agreed to a single count
charging essentially that public perception of his conduct did not reflect creditably on the United States House of
Representatives. The charge bears no relationship to the broad and sensational allegations of a Ralph Nader group
complaint that initiated this process. More fundamentally, the Investigative Subcommittee ("Subcommittee")
acknowledges that there was no merit to those sensational allegations, and that there is not a single instance when
Representative Shuster took legislative action to benefit private interests instead of the public good.

Representative Shuster has served in the House for a quarter of a century, and he is devoted to it as an institution
that serves the public good. Out of respect for the House and for his colleagues, Representative Shuster has put
aside his natural inclination to protest the injustice and untruth of so much that has been said against him, and to
accept a letter of reproval to end this lengthy process. Having given his pledge that he would accept a letter of
reproval - for the good of the House, of his colleagues and of his family - Representative Shuster was disappointed
that the Subcommittee Report chose to digress into whether such a letter was a satisfactory resolution. After all,
Representative Shuster could just as easily explain here why a letter of reproval is, in his judgment, overkill for the
charge of causing misguided public perceptions - particularly when those subjective perceptions were contrary to
the objective truth. The truth is that - under every statute Congress has adopted to regulate contacts between
lobbyists and Members — Representative Shuster’s interaction with Ann M. Eppard (his former Chief of Staff and
chief campaign advisor) complied with the law, and with his understanding of what was right. The truth is that
Representative Shuster made every effort to properly account for the expenses of his fact-finding trips, and to
publicly disclose his accounting, in keeping with the conduct of his colleagues. The truth is that Representative
Shuster always welcomed the fact that his staff chose to volunteer in his re-election campaigns, and made sure
official work came first and was never sacrificed for campaign work. The truth is that Representative Shuster’s
campaign successfully raised substantial funds, used them for proper purposes, and protected the taxpayer from



~ paying a pentiy for any expense that could just as properly be paid from campaign funds. Fundamentally, the fact
that both Representative Shuster and the Subcommittee believe that they could debate these issues endlessly shows
— perhaps better than any legal argument ~ why respect for the House, for history, and for the ethics process is best
served by a negotiated armistice.

Of greater concern to Representative Shuster than the debate over the past is whether other Members can truly
learn from the Subcommittee’s Report how not to fall into a future charge that their own conduct did not reflect
creditably on the House, The subjective standards by which Representative Shuster’s past conduct have been
criticized in the Report cannot be distilled into any clear and objective formulation for future guidance of Members.
Indeed, the Subcommittee Report repeatedly acknowledges that Members may continue, without violating any rule,
to:

o Seek political advice from former senior staff, get information from them, and attend social functions with
thern.
Make fact-finding trips that are reimbursed by the private sector, rather than at taxpayer expense.

«  Allow official staff to use their free time to volunteer in Members’ re-election campaigns,

+ Expend campaign funds for a wide range of political purposes, within the broad discretion of the Members
or their campaign officials.

Unclear, however, is when the limits of those principles are reached - other than by subjective assessment. If

anything of lasting use is to emerge from this lengthy and costly process, then the rules going forward deserve clear
articulation.

Until this investigation, charges that a Member’s conduct did not reflect "creditably" on the House were reserved
primarily for the type of personal misbehavior that unquestionably is not involved here. Seg eg, In the Matter of
Representative Gus Savage, HL.R. Rep. No. 101-307, at 14 (1990) (using Rule 43(1) to sanction a Member’s
sexual harassment of a Peace Corps volunteer); In the Matter of James C. Howarth, H.R. Rep. No. 98-548, at 4
(1983) (sanctioning sexual relationship with female page and narcotics-related misconduct); In the Matter of
Representative Gerry E. Studds, H.R. Rep. No. 98-295, at 1 (1983) (sanctioning sexual advances towards and a
relationship with various male pages); In the Matter of Representative Daniel B. Crane, H.R. Rep. No. 98-296,
at 1 (1983) (sanctioning sexual relationship with female page).

If the House now intends to use that rule more broadly to regulate a Member’s official and political actions, then
Members deserve the benefit of clear standards for compliance. Given the rule’s current lack of objective - or even
articulable - standards, we can respond to the Subcommittee Report only by explaining why — on the facts -
Representative Shuster believed his conduct met the standards of the House and of governing law. In doing so,
moreover, we can only speak to the facts as we understand them, given that the Subcommittee consistently has
denied our repeated requests for access to the documents and testimony it has gathered over the last four years.
Representative Shuster was never, at any point during this lengthy investigation, afforded the opportunity to view
the evidence, if any, against him. Nor was he allowed to confront the witnesses, if any, against him. If he had chosen
to put his family, friends, and the House through the ordeal of adjudicatory proceedmgs, Representative Shuster
believes the allegations aired throughout this process would be seen as misunderstandings and misapprehension.

In accepting a letter of reproval as a negotiated settlement, Representative Shuster believes that the specific actions
at issue here should be placed in the context of his full career of service to the public and to the House. By any
benchmark, Representative Shuster’s career of service in the House has been one that has brought credit to the
House, and that has benefited the public. In the 14 terms that Representative Shuster has been in Congress, he has



served his country in every capacity that he could find. He has served on the Committee on the Budget and its
Defense Task Force, the Committee on Education and the Workforce and its Subcommittee on Higher Education,
as Chairman of the Republican Policy Committee, and as a delegate to NATO’s North Adantic Assembly. Using the
knowledge that he gained during Army service, he has also been Ranking Member of the Select Intelligence
Committee. During this time, Congressman Shuster served on the Subcommittees on Human Intelligence, Analysis
& Counterintelligence, and Technical & Tactical Intelligence, where he supported and authored several important
pieces of intelligence legislation, including a highly classified project which was credited with making a significant
contribution to America’s success in the Gulf War.

Currently, Representative Shuster serves as the Chairman of the Committee on Transportation & Infrastructure,
which includes jurisdiction over highways, transit, railroads, aviation, water resources, economic development,
Merchant Marine, Coast Guard, and public buildings and grounds. The largest Committee in Congtess, it is this
Committee which builds America; this Committee which oversees our nation’s great highway, aviation, rail and
maritime transportation systems; this Committee which constructs our environmental infrastructure, which oversees
our Coast Guard, the Smithsonian Museum and all of our nation’s public buildings. The Committee’s role extends
across the entire spectrum of American life, from coastal lighthouses to towering river dams, from the building of
rural post offices to erection of the monumental John F. Kennedy Center for the Performing Arts that stands on
the Potomac shore. The Committee’s concerns embrace seashore erosion, rural and urban watershed, disaster relief,
and the economic development of depressed areas around the country, where Federal help must be provided to
bring jobs to American citizens, and new life to their communities.

In his capacity as Chairman, Representative Shuster has worked tirelessly, and has been a principal author of most
of America’s transportation legislation during the past two decades. Representative Shuster helped author the
Surface Transportation Act of 1982, the Surface Transportation and Uniform Relocation Assistance Act of 1987,
and the landmark Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act of 1991 (ISTEA), an historic, six-year, $157
billion transportation law that affirmed the interstate legacy of transportation as the lifeblood of the American
economy, and personal mobility as an American ethos. Representative Shuster’s work for the American people did
not stop, or even slow, during the course of the Subcommittee’s wide-ranging inquiry. Rather, Representative
Shuster oversaw passage of the Transportation Equity Act for the Twenty-First Century of 1998 (TEA-21), an

historic $218 billion law to unlock transportation trust funds so that those funds could be spent as they were
intended, and without increases in taxes. This year Representative Shuster is credited with being the driving force
behind The Aviation Investment Reform Act of the 21% Century (" AIR-21"), an historic $40 billion law that unlocks
the aviation trust fund and reforms the air-traffic conwrol system to deal with the growing demands on America’s air
transportation network, without raising taxes.

With each bill that Representative Shuster has authored, supported, and helped pass through Congress, he has
endeavored to keep faith with the American people by improving roads, bridges, and transit systems, protecting the
environment and national landmarks. It is no exaggeration to say that most of the highways on which more than
200 million Americans drive their cars every day owe their continued existence in significant part to the efforts of
Representative Shuster.

Sponsoring legislation is, of course, only a fraction of the work that Representative Shuster has performed in his
tenure as 2 Congressman, Representative Shuster has tirelessly traveled to visit numerous cities, in an effort to see
firsthand America’s tremendous transportation needs. Representative Shuster’s tours have shined a spotlight on
some of the nation’s major infrastructure needs, and focused attention on the Federal, state, and local partnerships
required to meet those needs. Representative Shuster has worked to give a higher profile to transportation issues in



the federal budget, emphasizing that the key fuel behind a growing economy is a2 modem, efficient transportation
system that moves goods quickly, cheaply and safely.

Representative Shuster’s legislative accomplishments lay alongside his truly unique political achievements. He is the
only Pennsylvanian in history to win both Republican and Democratic Congtessional nominations nine times. He
has authored an award winning book, "Believing in America" (Morrow, 1983), a first novel, "Double Buckeyes"
(White Mane Books, 1999) and a forthcoming novel, "Secret Harvest," the royalties of which are being donated to
Children’s Miracle Network. He has received numerous awards, including: "Watchdog of the Treasury Award" for
his efforts to control government spending; "Guardian of Small Business Award" for his effotts on behalf of the
free enterprise economy; the "Golden Age Hall of Fame Award" for his efforts on behalf of senior citizens; the
"National Security Leadership Award" for his support of a strong national defense; and special awards from the
Pennsylvania Academy of Science and the American Society of Highway Engineets. In short, Representative
Shuster is a man whose legisltive work for almost three decades has been the building of the American
infrastructure, the protection of the weak and the wronged, and the development of America’s resources for the
betterment of all its people.

IT. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Representative Shuster has agreed to accept a letter of reproval from the Committee on Standards that fully resolves
the single allegation against him and closes the investigation, The Statement of Alleged Violation ("SAV") to which
Representative Shuster agreed states that he engaged in conduct that did not reflect creditably on the House of
Representatives in violation of former House Rule 43, Clause 1. This charge is based on the "appearance of
impropriety” created by apparent failures to closely supervise employees, maintain detailed campaign expense
records, and de nanins violations of two House Rules. While the brief SAV accurately states the minor violation at
issue, the accompanying Subcommittee Report ("Report”) overstates the facts and law on which the Subcommittee
relies, Representative Shuster will take this opportunity to clarify the law and the facts relevant to the
Subcommittee’s Report. It is also Representative Shuster’s hope that the Committee will take note of the areas
where ethical requirements are not well defined. By clarifying the ethical obligations of each Member, the

Committee can ensure that no other Member can similarly be criticized based on largely subjective standards, -
applied after-the-fact.

The single charge in the SAV raises five different issues. Count I(a) states that Representative Shuster engaged in a
pattern and practice of knowingly allowing Ann M. Eppard to appear before or communicate with him in his
official capacity, during the 12-month period following her resignation as his chief of staff, on occasions and ina
manner that could create an appearance that his official decisions may have been affected. However, the
Investigative Subcommittee expressly disavowed any finding that 18 U.S.C. § 207 was violated, meaning that Mrs.
Eppard did not in fact communicate with or appear before Representative Shuster with the intent to influence his
official action on any matter during a twelve month cooling-off petiod following the end of her government service.
The Investigative Subcommittee further concluded that Representative Shuster did not provide any improper
legislative benefits to any of Mrs. Eppard’s clients. Consequently, this part of the SAV rests on only the misguided
conclusions drawn by observers of Mrs. Eppard’s access to Representative Shuster during the twelve months after
she left his office — access that was primarily based on her ongoing role as his chief campaign advisor, and the need
for her knowledge and expertise during the difficult transition to her replacement as Chief of Staff. These are
common events on Capitol Hill. The Report finds no evidence that Mrs. Eppard atternpted to influence or "lobby”
Representative Shuster on any official matter during the cooling-off period. To the contrary, the evidence received
by the Subcommittee revealed that Mrs. Eppard and Representative Shuster sought to understand the restrictions
imposed during Mrs. Eppard’s cooling-off period, and to comply in good faith with their ethical requirements.



Representative Shuster’s official decisions were not improperly affected as a result of Mrs. Eppard’s "access.” But
Representative Shuster acknowledges that his contact with Mrs. Eppard during the cooling-off period could have
created an appearance of impropriety.

Count I{b) concerns House Gift Rules implicated by Representative Shuster allowing the Outdoor Advertising
Association of America ("OAAA") and Daniel, Mann, Johnson and Mendenball ("DMJM") to defray certain
expenses related to a trip with his family to Puerto Rico in late December 1995 and eardy January 1996. Although
the Report suggests that Representative Shuster should not have accepted any expenses from private sponsors
because the trip was "recreational,” it acknowledges that Representative Shuster had fact-finding meetings relating
to transportation and infrastructure needs and projects in Puerto Rico. The Puerto Rico trip was a legitimate fact-
{inding trip directly related to Representative Shuster’s official duties, and he believed in good faith that his
acceptance of his and his wife’s travel expenses from the two private sponsors that arranged the trip was
permissible. Contrary to any insinuation that Representative Shuster believed the trip was an impermissible gift,
Representative Shuster reported the trip and its sponsors on his 1995 and 1996 financial disclosure reports. While
Representative Shuster was also accompanied on the trip by other family members who stayed in the
accommodations provided by his sponsors, the cost of the accommodations provided was comparable to the cost
of a hotel room at an area resort, and thus Representative Shuster’s sponsors did not incur any significant additional
expense as a result of these family members sharing his accommodations. Representative Shuster chose to agree to
this portion of the SAV because he acknowledges, in retrospect, that the sharing of accommodations with other
family members constituted an unintentional, de manins violation of the gift rule.

Count I(c) alleges a d& nanimis violation of former House Rule 45, because Representative Shuster supposedly
authorized or accepted the scheduling and advisory services of Ann M. Eppard on matters that were official in
nature for several months after she resigned from his congressional office. Mrs. Eppard resigned as Representative
Shuster’s chief of staff after twenty-two years of service, in September 1994, before the 1994 elections, as did many
Federal employees who had a one-time chance to receive a pay-out of their retirement funds. After the elections
placed Representative Shuster as Chairman of the Transportation and Infrastructure Committee, there were vastly
increased demands on Representative Shuster’s time, occutring simultaneously with the transition to a new chief of
staff in his office. Representative Shuster’s office staff sought out the advice and assistance of Mrs. Eppard on
scheduling matters during this transitional period because of Mrs. Eppard’s experience and familiarity with the
vastly increased number of individuals and organizations that requested appointments with Representative Shuster.
In addition, Mrs. Eppard remained Representative Shuster’s political advisor and legitimately offered her advice on
the scheduling of appointments with political or campaign-related ramifications. Although the Report alleges that
appointment requests from Mrs. Eppard’s clients were among the many requests she reviewed, the Subcommittee
elsewhere concluded that neither Mrs. Eppard nor her clients received any improper 1eg1slat1ve benefits from
Representative Shuster. The Report also contains no evidence that Mrs. Eppard sought to give her scheduling
advice in order to advance her clients’ interests, Thus, at no point did any of this scheduling activity improperly
influence the outcome of Representative Shuster’s official duties. These circumstances amount to no more than a g
mirimas infraction of House Rule 45, involving conduct considerably less noteworthy than conduct that has passed
prior scrutiny by House and Senate ethics committees.

Count I{d) relates to Representative Shuster’s role as an office manager, and concerns whether the employee
absence procedures in his office allowed for an appearance that congressional employees worked for his political
campaign, the "Bud Shuster for Congress Gommittee" ("BSCC"), to the apparent detriment of the time they were
required to spend on official duties. However, any "appearance” that congressional employees were paid official
salaries for time spent volunteering for the BSCC s directly contradicted even by the testimony set forth in the
Report. Representative Shuster’s employees consistently testified that office policy permitted employees to



vohunteer for the BSCC so long as they completed their offlclal duties on schedule, using evenings and weekends
when necessary. The Committee on Standards has recognized that such a policy is appropriate given the
unconventional nature of congressional work hours. Representative Shuster acknowledges that the lack of detailed
documentation made it impossible to conclusively demonstrate that his congress1onal ernpioyees completed all of
their official duties on schedule while volunteering for the BSCC. Despite any "appeatance” of impropriety,
however, the SAV does not charge that any of Representative Shuster’s employees in fact worked for the BSCCto
the detriment of their official duties.

Count I(e) states that the number and dollar amount of expenditures by the BSCC contained in Federal Election
Commission ("FEC"} reports for meals designated as political meetings, and for transportation on chartered
airplane flights, combined with inadequate record-keeping by the campaign, created the appearance that certain
expendltmes may not have been attributable to bona fide campaign or political purposes. Juxtaposed with this
"appearance” finding, however, the Subcommittee found no evidence that Representative Shuster made i improper
personal use of campaign funds. Seemingly, the Subcommittee instead required Representative Shuster to "prove his
innocence” with respect to more than 675 expenses over a six year period. While the Report faults Representative
Shuster for "madequate" record-keeping, it cites no House Rule or FEC regulation that required members to
maintain the detailed documentation apparently desired by the Investigative Subcommittee. In fact, the BSCC
~ expenditures were legitimate and reported to the FEC as required. Nonetheless, Representative Shuster
acknowledges that the BSCC could have eliminated any mistaken appearance of impropriety by maintaining more
detailed documentation concemning its expenditures, had it been aware of the heightened standards that would be
applied after-the-fact.

The charges contained in the Subcommittee’s SAV bear no resemblance to the overblown allegations conveyed to
the Committee under questionable circumstances in order to initiate this investigation, Consequently, the decision
to conclude this investigation was not an easy one for Representative Shuster to make. But with this four-year long
ordeal finally at an end, and with the Subcommittee rejecting the many wild accusations that have been made against
him by political detractors and reprinted in the media, Representative Shuster is pleased to continue the work of the
American people, and to stand for re-election before the constituents he has served and the people who know him
best.

HISTORY OF PROCEEDINGS

The investigation into Representative Shuster’s conduct began on September 5, 1996, the last hour of the last day
that complaints could be filed before the pre-election moratorium of the second session of the 104* Congress,
when the Ralph Nader-led Congressional Accountability Project filed its complaint {"Complaint"). Despite the fact
that the Complaint was both procedurally and substantively deficient, the Committee decided against its dismissal.

'The Complaint repeated almost verbatim fanciful stories that had been told in the press regarding the actions of
Mrs. Eppard, following her tenure working for the Congressman. Among the most spurious of these allegations was
the insinuation that Mrs. Eppard, while working as a lobbyist, had sought to obtain "special favors" for her clients
that were not available to members of the public. See Letter from Gary Ruskin to Honorable Nancy Johnson,
Chairwoman, House Committee on Standards of Official Conduct, Re: E thics Complaini A gainst Representatiwe Bud
Shuster, September 5, 1996. The complaint also made several other baseless allegations:

s That Mrs. Eppard had provided improper gifts to the Congressman, See #d. at 6-7.
o That Mrs. Eppard’s clients had received significant legislative benefits from Chairman Shuster and the
House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee. See id at 7-10.



e That Representative Shuster had violated a federal gratuity statute. See id at 10-12.

o 'That Representative Shuster improperly intervened with federal agencies on behalf of a private individual.
See ud |

The Subcommittee Report now rejects all of these allegatioris.

Despite House Rule 10’s prohibition against accepting unsworn complaints, or complaints filed by non-Members
prior to submission to, and a written refusal signed by, three Members for transfer to the Committee, the
Committee pursued the complaint. On November 9, 1997, the Committee formed an Investigative Subcommittee,
which later expanded its investigation into areas not mentioned in the original Complaint. By letter dated February
17, 1998, the Subcommittee notified Representative Shuster that it was authorizing the issuance of subpoenas.
During the course of the investigation, the Subcommittee issued no less than 150 subpoenas, which were extremely
broad and burdensome. The Subcommittee issued subpoenas to members of Representative Shuster’s family, to his
political supporters and to the clients of Ms. Eppard. In all, the Subcommittee interviewed 75 individuals, and
deposed 33 of these individuals. The Subcommittee also deposed Mrs. Eppard over the course of two days. In
order to avoid inflicting on his colleagues, family, and the House of Representative what would no doubt have been
a contentious hearing process, Representative Shuster accepted the invitation to have settlement negotiations with
the Subcommittee. On July 26, 2000, Representative Shuster agreed to accept the single-count SAV involving the
subjective standard of old House Rule 43(1). The nucleus of the negotiated settlement was the Subcommittee’s
agreement that a letter of reproval would be the sanction for the infraction charged in the SAV.

The Subcommittee found no credible evidence that any of Mrs. Eppard’s clients ever received inappropriate
legislative benefits. Report at 120-29, 133-38, The Subcommittee found no credible evidence that Representative
Shuster received illegal gratuities or gifts from Mrs. Eppard. Report at 129-32, 138-39. And finally, the
Subcommittee found no credible evidence that Representative Shuster improperly intervened with federal agencies
on behalf of certain citizens. Report at 139-42. In short, the Subcommittee confirmed that the principal allegations
of the original complaint were entirely baseless.

In November 1999, while the Subcommittee continued this investigation, federal prosecutors in Boston dropped all
charges of an indictment against Mrs. Eppard and accepted in its place a plea to a single misdemeanor. The
prosecutors also insisted on Mrs. Eppard’s agreement not to sue the federal government for malicious prosecution.
Earlier on, it had been made clear that Representative Shuster was neither a subject nor a target of the grand jury
investigation. With the misdemeanor plea and the dismissal of the indictment against Mrs. Eppard, federal
prosecutors also publicly announced that their investigation was at an end and would not involve Representative
Shuster in any way.

IV. RESPONSE TO THE SUBCOMMITTEE’S STATEMENT OF ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND
ACCOMPANYING REPORT

After more than six weeks of preparation, on September 14, 2000, the Subcommittee delivered to Representative
Shuster its firal draft Report summarizing its views. In order to assure that this process was brought to its
negotiated conclusion at the earliest possible time, Representative Shuster agreed to submit this response by
September 25, 2000, Because the document that Representative Shuster received from the Subcommittee was styled
a draft report, this response must be understood as a draft as well. Should the Subcommittee’s final Report be
altered from the draft, it is only fair that Representative Shuster be afforded the opportunity to respond to such
alterations.




A SAV 1[4(a)
The Subcomnuttce s Allegatxon

The first allegation of the SAV charges that Répresentative Shuster’s conduct did not reflect creditably on
the House of Representatives, in violation of former Rule 43, Clause 1 when he:-

engaged in a pattern and practice of knowingly allowing Ann, M. Eppard to appear before or communicate
with him in his official capacity, during the 12-month period following her resignation as his chief of staff,
on occasions and in a manner that created the appearance that his official decisions might have been
impropetly affected.

- SAV f4(a).
'Rcsponsc..'_

The Report identifies several instances where the Subcommittee believes Representative Shuster’s and Mrs.
Eppard’s contacts constituted activities that, while not in violation of 18 US.C. § 207(¢)(2), nevertheless
appeared to the Subcommittee to run afoul of a previously unidentified "underlying policy" of Section 207.
Although the Subcommittee made reference to some 40 events {Report 10-31), they easily fall into no more
than five commonplace scenarios, none of which violates Section 207, its spirit, or its underlying policy:

Scenario 1: Mrs. Eppard helped to organize and participated in factual briefings for Representative Shuster
concerning a government funded transportation project managed in part by of one of her clients, DMJM.
(Report at 14-18, Trip to Puerto Rico).

- Scenario 2: Mrs. Eppard organized and/or attended meals involving her clients and Representative Shuster,
at two of which clients of Mrs. Eppard, in her presence, did nothing more than "discuss[] issues of interest”
or "problems" with Representative Shuster. (Report at 14-18, Puerto Rico; 18, Amtrak Lunch; 18-19,
Conrail Dinner; 19-21, Other Dinners; and 29-30, Dinners in Raybum).

Scenario 3: Mrs. Eppard traveled with Representative Shuster and others at a time when she was retained
by clients interested in legislative issues within the general jurisdiction of the Committee on Transportation
and Infrastructure. (Report at 14-18, Trip to Puerto Rico; 25-29, travel on Federal Express Corporate Jet).

Scenario 4: Mrs. Eppard scheduled meetings involving her clients and Representative Shuster. (Report 21-
24, Meetings on behalf of Amtrak, Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission and Carmen Group).

Scenario 5: Mrs. Eppard introduced certain of her clients to Representative Shuster, in his office, and then
excused herself from the meeting that took place. {Report at 24-25, Introduction of Clients).

Each scenario is diséussed below, after a review of the applicable legal guidelines.

The Subcommittee invokes the "underdying policy”" of 18 US.C. Section 207(e )(2) as the fulcrum for finding
a violation of Rule 43, Clause 1. Report at 31. By importing Section 207 and its "undetlying policy” into the
House rules, however, the Subcommittee is constrained to interpret Section 207 consistent with its plain
language and with the longstanding interpretive guidance issued by the agencies that administer it. The



Subcommittee concluded that Representative Shuster did not vielate Section 207, but that he acted
inconsistently with the Subcommittee’s view of Section 207’s supposed underlying policy, in such a way as
to create an appearance of impropriety. The Subcommittee never explains how Representative Shuster
could violate the underlying policy without violating the law. Members of Congress know that their

legislative work is to draft clear laws, and that legislative policy is expressed in the plain language of those
laws.

The "underlying policy” of Section 207, therefore, must be determined in the first instance by reference to
the plain language of the statute, as it has been enforced by the agencies with jurisdiction over it. Under the
plain language of Section 207(e}(2) and longstanding Office of Government Ethics ("OGE") interpretive
guidance, all of the interaction between Representative Shuster and Mrs. Eppard fell outside the scope of
"lobbying," and thus did not violate either the letter or the spirit of Section 207. Indeed, the Subcommittee
Report itself takes pains - as it should - to disavow any suggestion that either Representative Shuster or
Mirs. Eppard violated the law. Report at 11-12, 30-31.

As the Subcommittee is aware, both Representative Shuster and Mrs. Eppard repeatedly sought and
obtained guidance from the Committee’s own counsel regarding the scope of their permissible
communications following her retirement from government service. At base, the advice was that Mrs.
Eppard was free to communicate with and appear before Representative Shuster in the political and social
spheres, but could not "lobby" him. The central question, then, is: What is lobbying? In his guidance to
them, Committee counsel did not provide Representative Shuster or Mrs. Eppard any definition of
lobbying, leaving them to believe that lobbying meant what they - correctly - knew it to mean based on
each of their nearly quarter century of experience in the House as of 1994, and based on their common
sense.

Committee counsel specifically advised Representative Shuster that, because Mrs. Eppard was a personal
friend, as defined by the Committee, and also served as his re-election campaign’s Assistant Treasurer, it was
permissible for Mrs. Eppard to attend political dinners, discuss campaign information, and to charge those
expenses to the campaign committee.; Response Exhibit 1. Additionally, according to Committee counsel,
social dinners with Mrs. Eppard, despite her status as a lobbyist, were permissible under House Rules. Jd.
Committee counsel never advised Representative Shuster that this type of conduct, although lawful, could
nevertheless violate old House Rule 43, Clause 1 by creating an appearance of misconduct. fd.
Representative Shuster understood, therefore, based on Committee counsel’s advice, that so long as Mrs.
Eppard did not lobby him, he would not be in violation of any rule.

Historically "lobbying" has generally meant advocacy for a particular legislative outcome. "Lobbying" has
never encompassed every interaction between a lobbyist and 2 Member. In the Lobbying Disclosure Act of
1995, for example, Congress defined "lobbying contact” to mean "any oral or written communication . . . on
behalf of a client" conceming legislation or resulting government programs and policies. 2 US.C.§
1602(8)(A) (repealed).. Congress excluded from the definition of "lobbying contact" any "communication

t is — (B)(v) a request for a meeting, a request for the status of an action, or any other similar
administrative request, if the request does not include an attempt to influence . . . a covered legislative
branch official." 2 US.C. § 1602(8)(B)(v). The Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995 is particularly compelling
evidence of what Congress itself thought was necessary for a communication to constitute lobbying at the
precise time of Mrs. Eppard’s 12-month cooling-off petiod. Under this standard, Mrs. Eppard did not lobby
Representative Shuster at any point during the cooling-off period. The Subcommittee has not alleged, and
the contacts did not encompass, any discussion of "the formulation, modification, or adoption,” of Federal



legislation, rules, reguiatlons or orders; or the administration of federal programs; or executive
appointments. _

The Supreme Court itself has interpreted the word lobbying only in its "commonly accepted sense - to
direct communication with members of congress on pending or proposed federal legislation." Unnted States w
Harriss, 347 US. 612, 620 (1954) (internal citations omitted); see also Zuidkler u Koota, 290 F. Supp. 244, 256
(E.DIN.Y. 1968) (recogmzmg that the Supreme Court had restricted the definition of lobbying to direct
communications with members of Congress, designed to influence, directly or indirectly the passage or
defeat of any legislation by the Congtess).

1. Because Section 207 Prohibits Only Advocacy, the Evidence Before the Subcommittee Makes
Clear that No Violation of Section 207 Occurnred.

By its plain language, Section 207(e)(2) prohibits only those cooling-off period communications or
appearances by a Member’s former staff that are knowingly made with "intent to influence . . . action" on a
"matter” within the "official capacity” of the former employer-Member:

(2) Personal staff. - (A) Any person who is an employee of a . . . Member of the House of Representative
and who, within 1 year after the termination of that employment, knowingly makes, with the intent to
influence, any communication to or appearance before any of the persons described in subparagraph (B), on
behalf of any other person (except the United States) in connection with any matter on which such former
employee seeks action by a Member, officer, or employee of either House of Congtess, in his or her official
capacity, shall be punished as provided in section 216 of this title.

(B) The persons referred to in subparagraph (A) with respect to appearance or communications by a person
who is a former employee are the following:

(i) the Senator or Member of the House of Representatives for whom that person was an employee; and

(11) any employee of that Senator or Member of the House of Representatives.

18 US.C. § 207()(2).

In short, Section 207(e)(2) prohibits only knowing and intentional advocacy concerning the outcome of a
legislative matter. Even then, former staff remain free to engage in such advocacy immediately after retirement in
communications and appearances before any Member (and all Committees) other than the former employer. And,
even then, former staff remain free to engage in such advocacy in communications and appearances before the
former employer once the cooling off period expires.

a. OGE Interpretations.

The limited scope of Section 207(e)(2) is well established by OGE interpretations of comparable Executive Branch
provisions of Section 207. As OGE has summarized the scope of Section 207, "the statute only prohibits
representational activity, #e, communications or appearances made to a Government employee with the intent to
influence." Letter from OGE, to A Division Chief of a Departmental Component, 1996 WL 931730 ...g0 to text4



~ (Nov. 5 1996) (herein, "11/5/96 OGE Letier"). It is this "intent to influence” requirement that limits Section 207°s
prohibition to advocacy, ie., the kind of "representational activity” that involves advocating a specific outcome on a
discretionary or disputed matter under government consideration.

OGE has made clear that "[a]n intent to influence is an essential element of the crimmal statute.” Id. OGE has said
that:

[Aln intent to influence may be found if the communication or appearance is made
for the purpose of seeking a discretionary Government ruling, benefit, approval or
other action, or 1s made for the purpose of influencing Government action in
connection with a matter which the former employee knows involves an appreciable
element of dispute concerning the Government action to be taken.

Id In other words, unless the former staffer is pleading for a discretionary government ruling (dispositive action) or
for discretionary government benefits (beneficial action), or for favorable resolution of a dispute, the interaction is
not lobbying and is not prohibited.

Members of Congress make hundreds of decisions every day, but not all of them involve dispositive action,
beneficial action or taking a position on a dispute through a vote, bill sponsorship or the like. For example,
Members decide whether they need facts from, or want to provide facts to, constituents, the public or special
interests in order to perform their official functions. When not focused on work, Members decide whether to
socialize, and with whom, Naturally, Members also make decisions that affect their political role as incumbent
candidates for re-election. Former staff may permissibly communicate with their employer-Member in connection
with any of these activittes during their cooling off period, and such communications do not amount to prohibited
advocacy regarding government decision-making.

Under longstanding interpretations of Section 207 - at least one of which had been issued when Mrs. Eppard
retired from government service — former staff may:

+ Provide advice and counsel to clients on how to lobby Congress;

 Have factual communications with the former employer-Member, whether asking for factual information
relevant to pending leglslation, or providing such information - even when directly requested to do so by
the Member;

 Have social contact with the Member, including at fundraisers.

Memorandum from OGE to Designated Agency Ethics Officials, General Counsels, and Inspector General
Regarding Revised Post-Employment Restrictions of 18 US.C. § 207, 1990 WL 485695 ..o to zexs3 (Oct. 26, 1990);
Mermorandum from Commitiee on Standards of Qfficial Conduct to All Congressional E mployees (Oct. 22, 1998) ("10/22/98
Memo"); 11/5/96 OGE Letter, at ... to text4.

b. OGE Regulations.

OGE’s formal regulations concerning comparable Executive Branch provisions of Section 207 further corroborate
that Section 207{e)(2) prohibits only advocacy in support of dispositive or beneficial discretionary government
action, or favorable resolution of disputes. Like Section 207 (e)(2), Section 207(c) prohibits advocacy
communications "in connection with any matter” on which the relevant official can take "action.” 18 US.C. §
207(c). OGE regulations make clear, however, that "any matter” does not mean everything that a government



 official may think about or do during the day. In iﬂterprétirig language found in Section 207(c) - and repeated in

subsection (€)(2) - OGE regulations state, "the restriction does not encompass every kind of matter, but only a
particular one similar to those cited in the statutory language, i, any judicial or other proceeding, apphcauon,
request for a ruling or determination, contract, claim, controversy, investigation, charge, accusation, or arrest.”" 5
CFER. § 2637.204(d).

Further, in delineating the spheres of permissible and impermissible interaction between the former staff and the
employer-Member during the cooling-off period, OGE has recognized that any given conversation might leave the
realm of the permissible and head toward the impermissible. When that occurs, however, OGE makes clear that the
former employee can remain in compliance with the statute simply by "avoid[ing] further participation in the
meeting or communication.” 11/5/96 OGE Letter at ... totext4 (citing 5 CE.R. § 2637.201(b)(5)).

c. Statutory Exceptlons.

The scope of Section 207(e)(2) is still further confined by the carve-outs from prohibited conduct, which are found
in Section 207(j). Recognizing that lobbyists may have co-existing political responsibilities, Section 207(j)(7) allows
tormer staff who are officials of the Member’s campaign committee to communicate with the Member in that

capacity.
d. The Committee’s Issuance of Guidance in 10/98 Regarding the Cooling-Off Period Restrictions.

For the first time, in October 1998, the Committee issued guidance concerning Section 207, which vastly expanded
the potential reach of the statute’s pl’OhlblthI}S 10/22/98 Meno. From October 1998 forward, the Committee
expressed the view that - although it had no jurisdiction to enforce Section 207 - the statute should be read to
prohibit a former House employee from "openly associatfling]" with a lobbying client before the former-employer
Member during the 12-month cooling-off period. Of course, by the time this advice was given in October 1998, the
events described in the Report had long since occurred.

Although the 10/22/98 Memo was an expansion of prior interpretive guidance concerning Section 207, the
Subcommittee apparently has applied those after-the-fact standards to the 1995 actions described in the Report.
These new standards should not be applied retroactively to conduct that took place years before the interpretive
memorandum. See In the Matter of Representative Robest L.F. Sikes, H. Rep. No. 94-1364, 94 Cong., 2d
Sess. 67 (1976) ("Conduct which was not improper at the time must not be made to appear improper by retroactive
application of standards which were not then in existence."); see also Wikson u Layne, 526 US. 603, 617 (1999)
(holding police officers not liable for violation of 42 US.C. §1983 where they followed internal pohce policies and
the state of the law "was at best underdeveloped").

¢. The Subcommittee Report’s Standards.

The Subcommittee Report appears to be expanding the scope of the prohibition even beyond the full Committee’s
October 1998 interpretation. According to the Report, even those former staff who avoid "open association" with
clients now may run afoul of the rules if their former employer "is made aware" of the involvement of the former
staff in providing advice on legislation. Report at 11-12. This newly articulated "made aware" standard is broad and
amorphous, and contradicts the longstanding OGE guidance that former staff may provide advice and counsel to
clients on legislative issues before their former employers even during the cooling-off period. Indeed, given the
requirement that lobbyists register and publicly disclose their clients and their client’s objectives, it is hardly possible
to keep the fact of association with a client’s legislative cause a secret.



Elsewhere in the Report, the Subcommittee expresses concern that certain social events "were held in almost
immediate proximity to, indeed in conjunction with, events at which, outside of her presence, Mrs. Eppard’s clients
did discuss matters of official interest to them with Representative Shuster." Report at 13. What are Members to
make of this observation in guiding their own future conduct? Longstanding OGE and Committee guidance has
exempted social contact from the reach of Section 207. A new rule that condemns social events with former staff
held in "immediate proximity” to lobbying contact not involving former staff calls the whole social contact
exception into question. The Report does not indicate how much of a time interval must occur, before or after
social events, to avoid criticism. The only clarity that the Report does provide is the certainty that - no matter what
the nature and the extent of Mrs. Eppard’s cooling-off period activities - they had no improper effect on the
outcome of legislation..

2. The Subcommittee’s Rejection of a " Legislative Benefits" Charge Proves That There Was No
Substance to Any Appearance of Impropriety.

The Subcommittee Report comprehensively rejects all allegations that Mrs. Eppard impropetly secured legislative
benefits for her clients. Seg, eg, Report at 120-29, 133-38. The Subcommittee’s conclusion necessarily means that -
whatever the nature of Mrs. Eppard’s communications with or appearances before Representative Shuster — they
did not steer the legislative process away from the public good to serve private interests. If anything, that conclusion
means that the "underlying policy" of Section 207 has been vindicated. It is also clear that the letter of the law has
been upheld. Section 207 addresses only lobbying contact - that is, contact with an intent to influence official
action. The Report alleges no contact with an intent to influence official action.

3. An Analysis of Each of the Report’s Five Scenarios Demonstrates That Mrs. Eppard’s Contact with
Representative Shuster Did Not Involve Intent to Influence Legislation.

Absent proof that a lobbyist secured "legislative benefits" because of contacts with a Member, the requisite "intent
to influence" must be established by other circumstances. In general, the plainest way of determining intent to
influence is to consider the content of the communications between a lobbyist and a Member. None of the Report’s
five basic scenarios involving cooling-off period contact between Representative Shuster and Mrs. Eppard
evidences any intent to influence official action.

Scenario 1: Mrs. Eppard helped to organize, and participated in, factual briefings for Representative Shuster in
February 1995 conceming a government funded transportation project partially managed by one of her clients,
DM]JM. Report at 14-18 (Ttip to Puerto Rico). Factual briefings - whether given to Members, or received from
Members — are not lobbying. Supra at 20. Because the briefings at issue here were permitted, there was also nothing
wrong m helping to organize them.

'The evidence cited by the Report conceming this trip confirms that it was a proper fact-finding event. That
evidence includes: Representative Shuster’s trip itinerary, showing Representative Shuster attended an official dinner
hosted by the Puerto Rican Government, Report Exhibit 13; the dinner guest list (Report Exhibit 14), showing
eight of the twelve dinner guests were Puerto Rican government officials; a 2:00 pm Tren Utbano Alignment
briefing, a 3:30 pm Tren Urbano aerial tour, and a 5:00 pm meeting with the Governor of Puerto Rico, immediately
followed by a 7:00 return flight to Washington, D.C. Response Exhubit 2. Coupled with this evidence is the
Subcommittee’s own recognition that DMJM employee Nancy Butler testified that the "purpose of the trip was to
educate Representative Shuster on the Tren Urban project.” Report at 16.




To the extent that any lobbying took place during the trip, it was done by the Puerto Rican Government. A letter
sent to the Puerto Rican Government by DMJM officers during that time period, however, confirm that no one
thought Mrs. Eppard was a lobbyist for the Puerto Rican Government. Response Exhibit 3. As we understand it,
the Tren Utrbano project was fully authotized and funded even before Mrs. Eppard left Representative Shuster's
staff, and as far as we know, no one tried to alter the funding formula thereafter.

Scenario 2: Mrs. Eppard organized and/or attended meals involving her clients and Representative Shuster, and at
two such events clients of Mrs. Eppard did nothing more than "discuss[] issues of interest” or "problems" with
Representative Shuster. Report at 14-18 (Puerto Rico); 18 (Amtrak Lunch); 18-19 (Conrail Dinner); 19-21 (Other
Dinners); and 29-30 (Dinners in Rayburn). The Report contains no allegation that Mrs. Eppard - or, indeed, her
clients - advocated for any legislative outcome during these meals, or otherwise intended to influence government
action. Indeed, the meals would not have been "lobbying" if they involved only an exchange of factual information,
or just a social occasion. Supmz at 20-21. In any event, the clients remained free to lobby directly themselves, so long
as Mrs. Eppard did not serve as the advocate during the cooling-off period.

Regarding the Amtrak Lunch, the Report states only that "*problems™ were discussed with Representative Shuster
in the presence of Mrs. Eppard. /d at 18. The Report specifically states that the Amtrak representative, not Mrs.
Eppard, spoke with Representative Shuster. No allegation is made that Mrs. Eppard pammpated in the discussion.
Id. Nor is there any suggestion that any specific legislation was discussed.

Regarding the Conrail Dinner, the Report concedes that, prior to the dinner, the Conrail representative met with
Representative Shuster out of Mrs, Eppard’s presence. During the dinner, the Subcommittee alleges that the Conrail
representative discussed issues of interest to Conrail. See id 'The Report offers no explanation as o why
Representative Shuster would need to meet privately, out of Mrs. Eppard’s presence, if "lobbying contact” was
going to continue when the three people ate dinner. Clearly Representative Shuster and the Conrail representative
met privately so as to avoid even an appearance of a problem under Section 207.

Regarding the "other dinners," the Report concedes that, at a BSCC fundraiser, Mrs. Fletcher specifically recalled
that "no legislation was discussed with Representative Shuster at the dinner.” Repott at 20. Beyond that the
Subcommittee does not allege what, if anything was discussed. At base, nothing more was involved than a political
fundraiser, appropriately attended by all concerned. At another dinner, Mr. Hamberger specifically recalled that
"Mrs. Eppard left the room for about twenty minutes when business was mentioned.” Report at 20. Similarly, Mr
Schenendorf confirmed that, at the same dinner, Mrs. Eppard "excused herself when the topic of conversation
turned to business relevant to" her clients. Id. at 21. The Report does not specify what "business" was discussed. In
any event, the Report confirms that Mrs. Eppard properly followed OGE guidance to recuse or excuse herself from
discussions that might involve topics prohibited during the cooling-off period. The Report tells us nothing more
about the remaining dinners other than that some of Mrs, Eppard’s clients attended what apparently were social
functions.

Scenario 3: Mrs. Eppard traveled with Representative Shuster and others at a time when she was retained by clients
interested in legislative issues within the general jurisdiction of the Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure.
Report at 14 (Trip to Puerto Rico); 25-29 (travel on Federal Express corporate jet). The Report contains no
allegation that Mrs. Eppard advocated for any legislative outcome when she and others traveled with Representative
Shuster. Absent advocacy on her part, there is no intent to influence government action merely by being aboard an
aircraft with Representative Shuster.



The trips aboard Federal Express jets involved campaign activities paid for by the BSCC and attended by Mrs.
Eppard in her role as a campaign official, a capacity in which Mrs. Eppard was allowed to communicate with
Representative Shuster even during the cooling-off period. Federal Express explained to the Subcommittee that it
had a no-lobbying rule on its aircraft. Federal Express had representatives on board solely because of their internal
policy that company officials had to be present when company aircraft was used. Federal Express testified that their
objective was relationship-building, on which there is no prohibition. Report at 26.

Scenario 4: Mis. Eppard scheduled meetings involving her clients and Representative Shuster. Report at 21-25
(Meetings on behalf of Amgtrak, Pennsylvania Turmnpike Commission and Carmen Group). As we understand the
evidence - even though our requests for the transcript of her testimony before the Subcommittee were rejected -
Mrs. Eppard vigorously denies that any of her clients ever discussed its legislative objectives with Representative
Shuster in her presence, as confirmed even by the evidence before the Subcommittee. Had one of her clients done
50, however, Mrs. Eppard’s presence during her clients’ advocacy would not amount to prohibited advocacy on her
part. Ultimately, her scheduling of appointments for clients amounts to nothing more than her "open association”
with her client’s legislative cause - something that the Committee did not advise against until 1998. The requlrement
that lobbyists register and publicly disclose their clients and their client’s objectives in any event makes "open
association” with a client’s legislative cause inevitable.s

Congress itself expressly recognized in the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995 that "a request for a meeting" does not
constitute lobbying unless additionally there is evidence of an "intent to influence” the outcome of legislation. The
Report contains no allegation that Mrs. Eppard - or, indeed, her clients - did anything more than request a meeting,
That mere request ~ as a matter of law - is not evidence of an intent to influence the outcome of legislation.

Scenario 5: Mrs. Eppard introduced certain of her clients to Representative Shuster, in his office, and then excused
herself from the meeting that took place. Report at 24-25. Here, too, the Report does not allege that, after Mis.
Eppard introduced her clients to Representative Shuster, those clients advocated for any legislative outcome.

- Moreover, Mrs. Eppard absented herself from the ensuing discussions. Although her clients’ own direct advocacy
would not amount to advocacy on her part, Mrs. Eppard nonetheless took the step approved by OGE guidance,
and declined to participate further in the part of the meeting that might have involved advocacy. Years after the
events alleged in the Report, this Committee issued a memorandurn advising - for the first time - that former staff
"must not permit their name to be openly associated with such [lobbying] contact by other person." 10/22/98 Memo
at 4. As of 1994-1995, however, no Committee guidance or OGE interpretation had prohibited mere public
association of former staffer’s name with the direct lobbying contact of their clients. Indeed, the Committee stated
that the "purpose” of its 1998 Memo was "to acquaint” recipients "with key issues of concern to departing staff." fd
at 1.

4, Considembic Evidence Shows that Both Representative Shuster and Mrs. Eppard Sdughtto Understand
and to Comply with Cooling-off Restrictions.

Beyond the individual episodes identified by the Subcommittee is the broader context — the evidence that
Representative Shuster and Mrs. Eppard sought to understand and to comply fully with Mrs. Eppard’s post-
employment restrictions. Specifically, the evidence shows not only their knowledge of and attempt to comply with
cooling-off restrictions, but also: (1) that Representative Shuster’s office used a "firewall" to prevent lobbying
contact by Ms. Eppard during the cooling-off period; (2) that the language in Mrs. Eppard’s contracts and other
documents clearly limited her services to advice, not advocacy; and (3) that Mrs. Eppard refused to take clients from
Shuster’s district in order to avoid any appearance of impropriety.



Although we have been denied access to transcripts of the testimony before the Subcommittee, we understand that
the witnesses support these conclusions. We believe that Carol Wood testified Mrs. Eppard was aware of the rules
and ensured that she did not discuss legislation with Representative Shuster during the cooling-off period. We
understand that Ms. Wood testified that Mrs. Eppard would leave meetings when the subjects of her clients or their
legislative objectives arose.

We understand that Tim Hugo testified to the following: Mr. Hugo saw Mrs. Eppard simultaneously in the
company of both her clients and Shuster only in social settings. Moreover, Mis. Eppard left the area if official
business was raised in Representative Shuster’s presence. Finally, we also understand that Mr. Hugo testified that
Mrs. Eppard specifically discussed with Mr. Hugo the fact that she was prohibited from lobbying Representative
Shuster during the cooling-off period.

We understand that this testimony was cotroborated by numerous other witnesses. We understand that when Tom
Leibensperger was interviewed by the Subcommittee, he testified that he was certain that Mis. Eppard knew of the
cooling-off period restrictions and abided by them. We also understand that Ed Hamberger testified that he never
witnessed Representative Shuster and Mrs. Eppard discuss her transportation clients during the cooling-off period,
and that she excused herself from conversations that began to approach legislative topics. We believe that Jack
Schenendorf testified before the Subcommittee that Mrs. Eppard did not exert any improper influence over
Representative Shuster, and that he never saw Mrs. Eppard try to influence legislation during this cooling-off
period.

The testimony of these individuals is also corroborated by our understanding of the testimony of Ann Eppard
herself. We understand that Mis. Eppard testified that she had several conversations with Committee counsel, Ed
Hoskens, in which she received advice that she could contact Representative Shuster for any purpose except
lobbying during the cooling-off period. When asked by the Subcommittee her definition of lobbying, we understand
Mrs. Eppard explained that lobbying occurs when a person provides information to a Member of Congress with the
intent to affect or originate legislation. It is our understanding that the Subcommittee chose not to ask Mrs. Eppard
whether she had ever communicated with Representative Shuster during the cooling-off period with the intent to
influence legislation. It is our understanding that, had she been asked, Mrs. Eppard would have replied that she had
not done so. Likewise, we understand that Mrs. Eppard specifically testified that she did not think that the
prohibition included seeing Representative Shuster and her clients in a social settings

In sum, as we understand it, the testimony of the witnesses before the Subcommittee is that Mis. Eppard and
Representative Shuster sought to understand the cooling-off period restrictions and made good faith efforts to fully
comply with their legal and ethical obligations, Nevertheless, Representative Shuster acknowledges that his contact
with Mrs. Eppard during the cooling-off period could have created the appearance of impropriety.

A. SAV {4(b)
The Subcommittee’s Allegation:
SAV 94(b) alleges in its entirety that: |
Representative Shuster violated House Gift Rules [former Rule 43(3) for 1995 and Rule 52 for 1996]
by accepting expenses from the Qutdoor Advertising Association of America ("OAAA") and

Daniel, Mann, Johnson and Mendenhall ("DMJM") related to a trip with his family to Puerto Rico in
December 1995 and January 1996.



Report at 6. | _
Response:
1. Introduction.

On December 26, 1995, Representative Shuster traveled to Puerto Rico for nine days on a
fact-finding trip. During the trip, Representative Shuster had official meetings relating to
transportation and infrastructure projects in Puerto Rico directly related to his
responsibilities as Chairman of the Transportation and Infrastructure Committees As
explicitly permitted by House Rules, Representative Shuster’s travel expenses were paid in
part by two private sponsors of the trip (DMJM and OAAA), who had an interest in
educating Representative Shuster about the status of transportation projects and activities in
Puerto Rico. Representative Shuster properly reported the trip and its sponsors on his 1995
and 1996 financial disclosure reports and appropriately allocated and paid for a portion of
the trip expenses as personal. In sum, the Subcommittee’s assertion that Representative
Shuster’s trip was recreational, and that his acceptance of any travel expenses from DMJM
and OAAA therefore violated House Rules, is incorrect.

Representative Shuster was accompanied on the trip by not only his wife, but also other
family members. The Subcommittee also alleges that it was improper for Representative
Shuster to allow these other family members to stay in the accommodations DMJM and
OAAA provided for him. However, Representative Shuster’s sponsors did not incur any
significant additional expense as a result of these family members sharing his
accommodations, and the cost of the accommodations in which Representative Shuster and
his family stayed was comparable to the cost of a hotel room at one of the area resorts,
Accordingly, this shating of accommodations did not constitute a material violation of the
gift rules,

2. The Gift Rules Permit Members To Accept Up To Seven Nights’ Reimbursement
For Travel Expenses Related To Fact-Finding Trips.

Representative Shuster was in Puerto Rico from December 26, 1995 to January 3, 1996.
Because the House "gift rules” changed effective January 1, 1996, it is necessary to analyze
Representative Shuster’s conduct under both the 1995 rules and the 1996 rules.

a. 1995 Rules.

'The gift rule in effect through December 31, 1995, provided that a "Member . . .

; shall not accept gifts (other than personal hospitality of an individual or with a fair

| : market value of less than $100 or less) . . . in any calendar year aggregating more than
... $250" without a written waiver from the Committee on Standards. Former
FHouse Rule 43(4). However, the rule was by its terms inapplicable to acceptance of
travel expenses from private sources for a "fact-finding" trip taken for "educational
purposes directly related to official duties.” House Ethics Manual (April 1992), at
38. The House Ethics Manual provided that "the responsibility rests with the



Member . . . to determine whether a particular event or activity is directly related to
official duties" such that it can be considered a fact-finding mission. Jd.

Rule 43(4) allowed Members to accept travel expenses for up to seven consecutive
days, excluding trave! days, for fact-finding trips. Id. at 40-41. In addition, the House
Ethics Manual provided that a Member could accept reimbursement from two
private sources if the Member attended two independent events in the same
geographical location. Jd. at 42. Finally, the Committee on Standards explicitly
permitted Members to extend fact-finding trips at their own expense and still accept
return transportation from a private source. Jd.

b. 1996 Rules.

Effective January 1, 1996, the House gift rule was amended and renumbered as House Rule
52. As the Committee on Standards noted shortly before this rule became effective, "[t]he
new rule continues to allow Members . . . to travel at the expense of private sources to . . .
face-finding trips and similar events in connections with their official duties." Memorandum
from Committee on Standards of Official Conduct to House of Representatives re "New
Gift Rule," (Dec. 7, 1995). The new rule maintained the same limits on the number of days
of travel expenses that a Member could accept. In addition, the Committee on Standards
recently reconfirmed that "the rule places on individual Members and officers -- and not on
[the Ethics] Committee -- the burden of making the determination that a particular trip is in
connection with official duties.” Gifts and Travel Booklet, Commitiee on Standards of
Official Conduct, at 72 (April 2000}

. The Puerto Rico Trip Was A Legitimate Fact-Finding Mission Connected To
Representative Shuster’s Official Duties.

As Chairman of the Transportation and Infrastructure Committee, Representative Shuster’s
official duties involve issues relating to highways, transit, railroads, aviation, water resources,
economic development, and public buildings and grounds. Representative Shuster traveled
10 Puerto Rico to meet with a Puerto Rican government official and representatives of two
private organizations to learn about two projects in Puerto Rico directly related to
Representative Shuster’s official duties.

The Tren Urbano light rail project, for example, was within the jurisdiction of the
Committee on Transportation & Infrastructure. The project involved the construction of a
light rail transit system to serve San Juan, Puerto Rico and surrounding areas, and was
designed and managed, in part, by DMJM. It was an innovative electric train system that
would connect major commercial and residential areas in San Juan where population density
and traffic congestion were high. Tren Urbano was eligible to receive federal funding, and its
designers and representatives of the Puerto Rico Department of Transportation and Public
Works wanted to introduce the project to Representative Shuster in an attempt to convince
him that the project was worthy of such fundings On December 29, 1995, Representative
Shuster met with a DMJM architect, Janos Hegede, and Carlos Pasquera, Secretary of the
Department of Transportation. These individuals made a presentation to Representative
Shuster regarding the project and provided him with written materials that Representative




Shuster studied during the remainder of his trip, including a lengthy and complex
Environmental Impact Statement on the Tren Utrbano project that was prepared in
November 1995 ~ well after Representative Shuster’s initial trip to Puerto Rico. T.lns bnefmg
was directly related to Representative Shuster’s official duties.

Likewise, the OAAA arranged for Representative Shuster to meet with Marc Voigt, a
representative of an R.J. Reynolds manufacturing facility, to discuss billboard advertising in
the San Juan area. The RJ. Reynolds company was the second largest advertiser on

 billboards in the United States and Mr. Voigt provided Representative Shuster with
important information about billboard advertising in Puerto Rico. Once again, this meeting
was directly related to Representative Shuster’s duties as Chairman of the Transportatlon and
Infrastructure Committee,

In sum, given the significance of the Tren Urbano project and the operations of the R].
Reynolds company, and the direct relationship between these activities and Representative
Shuster’s official duties, Representative Shuster appropriately determined that the Puerto
Rico trip was a worthwhile fact-finding mission.s

. Representative Shuster Appropriately Permitted DMJM and OAAA to Pay Certain
Expenses and Allocated Other Expenses as Personal.

As set forth above, the House Rules allowed Members to accept up to seven days of travel
expenses in connection with a fact-finding mission outside of the continental United States.
House Ethics Manual (April 1992), at 40-41. As such, Representative Shuster was
permitted to accept reimbursement from the two sponsoring private organizations for his
and his 